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language that could properly describe his peculiar personality. So we will simply use the
Latin phrase sui generis. Dr. J. B. Scouller, in his Manual, gives one or two of the many
anecdotes told of him. Fifty years ago, we believe, enough such might have been gathered
up to fill a small volume. He was always different from any one else, and always different
from himself as you knew him before. But his strange eccentricities were ever pervaded
with earnest piety. Here is one not given in the book names. He, a venerable old man, is
riding alone. He turns from the road, rides up to a houses near at hand, and courteously
asks the lady of the house, “Can you tell me the road to the New Jerusalem?” “New
Jerusalem?” responded the lady. “New Jerusalem? there is surely no such place near this.
I never heard of it.” “Madam,” answered the old man, “there is such a place, and if you
inquire you can find the way thither.” Then he turned his horse and rode away. She was
impressed by his earnestness; she spoke of it to others; the matter was talked over; at
length she grasped the truth, inquired and found the way, and walked in it. It was under
the training of such men that the early fathers of this congregation were reared.

But there was a part of negative training that had its use. This was pre-eminently true of
slavery. It was also true of other things. Let one incident suffice as an illustration. A few
families- Wilsons, Grahams and McKees-came from Kentucky, near the Tennessee line.
For a time Rev. Samuel Brown ministered to the small congregation in those parts. It was
there that Cumberland Presbyterianism rose. There was remarkable religious enthusiasm;
there were strange bodily contortions-“the jerks”-and many other things connected with
these meetings that made the fathers and mothers of the Associate Reformed Church stand
aloof and guard their children against them. One of these once told the writer that a few
of them, against their parents’ wishes, went one day. There was wonderful excitement;
some took the “jerks”; some saw visions. At length some one saw the Saviour on a tree
in the camp. Then there was a rush to the tree, and such attempts to climb, and such wild
cries! “Let’s go home,” said one of her friends, and they went away, awestruck and
saddened, and willing henceforth to remain away, stronger in the faith of their fathers,
perhaps, than ever before.

But there was another reason why the first members of Hopewell congregation were
strong men. Think for a moment of the, time the toils, and exposure necessarily connected
with a trip from South Carolina to Ohio with nothing but a dense forest, the home of the
wild beast, to welcome them! None but men and women of strong physical frames and of
moral bravery would think of such a journey.

SETTLEMENT.

The first to settle in the congregation, we believe, was William Ramsey, Jr., who was
afterwards connected with and became a leading member in the Covenanter church. This
was in 1805. During the year 1806 he was joined by Wm. McCreary, Wm. Ramsey, Sr.,
Jas. Ochiltree, and Ebenezer Elliott; in 1807 Richard Sloan, Robert Martin, John and
James Allen, David McDill, Hugh McQuiston, Andrew McQuiston, Robert Boyce, John
Patterson, James Brown, and perhaps a few others; in 1808 John and Hugh Ramsey,
James Boyce, and Robert Douglass. The Magaws came about the year 1811. In 1814
quite a number came with or followed Rev. A. Porter, such as the Weeks, Bucks,
Stewarts, Pinkertons, and Fosters. About the year 1817 the Gilmores and Paxtons came
and other families of Ochiltrees and Ramseys. The Grahams, Wilsons, and McKees came
from Kentucky about the year 1829. About the year 1807 Mr. Risk gave them one day’s
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satisfaction to learn of Mr. Porter’s congregation that there is scarcely a family within his
charge where the morning and evening sacrifice is not regularly offered.”

He was very careful about receiving members into the church. In the fall he would form
a class of inquirers and beginning at the creation and fall of man he would take them
through a course of regular instruction. These were for about six months on a kind of
preparation. If Mr. Porter thought any of them were not fitted for the Lord’s table they
were kindly informed of this. As a natural result of this systematic training this
congregation was made up of men of more than ordinary religious intelligence. And the
members were firmly, because intelligently, attached to the truth. These were not the men
who were likely to be swept away by every wind of doctrine. The writer has preached in
more than twenty congregations west of the Ohio line. In all but one or two he has found
children of Hopewell, and this thorough indoctrination is telling upon children and
children’s children still. The patient pastoral work of Father Porter is bearing fruit in
hundreds of families today. He was a man of genial disposition and familiar with all. He
seems to have had a kind of contempt for such high-sounding titles as Rev. or Doctor. His
announcements were always in this form: “John Steele will preach for us next Sabbath,”
or “Samuel Magaw will assist at our next communion.”

Again he was a very bold man. An instance of this we will have further on. Perhaps a
few of the many anecdotes we have heard of him will be of some interest. An old elder of
the writer’s (now dead) used to tell the following: He lived in a small residency at some
distance from Hopewell. Mr. Porter was appointed to preach for a Sabbath. Instead of
getting his “per diem” and hastening away Monday morning he remained to “examine” the
congregation. They were assembled at the elder’s house. It was time to begin the
exercises. They were all badly frightened. It was a strange preacher and they had not
“said their questions” lately. Mr. Porter’s keen eye took in the position at once. Just then
a dog came sauntering into the room. Mr. Porter gave it a kick, saying as he did so, “Get
out, you can’t say questions.” The most rigid muscles were relaxed-there was a sense of
relief-and Mr. Porter tenderly and solemnly proceeded to his work.

A sermon that he preached highly offends one of his members. On Monday morning he
visits Mr. Porter in great rage. Mr. Porter kindly asks him to tell his grievance. He quietly
listens. At length he asks, “Is that all?” and to the answer, “I believe so,” he simply said,
“Well, what I want you to do is this, go home and pray that I may be enabled to do better
in the future.” This we believe was an end of the matter.

Not long before his death he visited Mrs. Jenny Wilson, who, like him, had
consumption. In the course of conversation he asked her what disease she would rather
die of. She answered she did not think she ought to have any “would rather” about it, but
leave that wholly to God. “Well,” said he, in that peculiar manner of his in which there
was so often with him the playful pervaded with and steeped in the solemn, “Well, I would
rather die just of the disease you and I are dying of.” Then he went on to give his reasons.

We heard a short time ago of a young man who went to him for a recommendation as a
school teacher whom he subjected to a severe examination as to his familiarity with the
Shorter Catechism. Probably had Mr. Porter ever given a reason for this we would have
found that he had some reason in which wisdom and wit were combined; that really there
was nothing incongruous and no trifling with religious truth.
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mover and was the chairman of the com-
mittee.

Now turn to the minutes of Synod for
1831. We have the report of the committee,
and note farther that the two other mem-
bers of the committee were not even pres-
ent. Mr. Porter was really the commit-
tee. Take a few extracts from the report.
»Your committee believes that Rev.

John T. Pressly, of South Carolina, does
possess the foregoing qualifications in a
good degree,” etc. Farther on in the re-
port we read: “Mr. Pressly was written to
by the committee, strongly urging him to
attend your meeting this fall. He has-
though not without expressing strong re-
luctance-complied with the invitation
and is here. The committee have at their
own instance had an interview with Mr.
Pressly, and feel warranted in saying that

[The rest of the clipping is missing]

From The United Presbyterian, Thursday, December 31, 1885

HISTORY OF “OLD HOPEWELL” CONGREGATION.

FIRST PRESBYERY OF OHIO

BY THE REV. N. C. M'DILL, D.D.

III.

Come with me to the church Sabbath morning. The members of session met always
before service and conferred together about the spiritual interests of the congregation.
The hour for service comes. Mr. Porter leaves the little brick house and starts for the
church. Those on the west side see, and start also. Those north and south rise to go.
These are seen by those east. There is a crowding in from every point of the compass.

Mr. John Pinkerton, Mr. Porter’s right hand man and clerk of session, with stern
countenance, passes to his pew. His sons Thomas, William, John, Robert, James, George,
and Ebenezer (we have not purposely omitted any son) follow. Yonder also at the south
door enters Ebenezer Elliot, followed by Joseph, James, Ebenezer, William, John, Isaiah,
Hugh, and David. And as they look back upon this long line singing “with the spirit and
the understanding,”

“The son’s of youth as arrows are
For strong men’s hands prepared.
O happy is the man who hath
His quiver filled with those;
They unashamed in the gate
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may be called the “morphine treatment.” The troubles grow worse. Mr. Bower was
accused of using the pulpit as a kind of breastwork, from behind which he would throw
stones at his opponents.

There is intense excitement. The lines are drawn as during a warm political campaign.
Everyone is either “Bower” or “anti-Bower.” Presbytery meets, charges are preferred,
Mr. Bower is rebuked. His friends are deeply wounded. He also, deeply wounded, goes
away.

Mr. Bower found other fields of labor and usefulness and became a prominent leader in
the anti-slavery controversy in the Synod of New York.

HER DAUGHTERS

Two congregations were stricken off near the same time. First in 1835, Fairhaven, now
stronger than her mother. Their first pastor, Rev. J. Morrow, quiet and unassuming. His
health, at best but feeble, soon entirely failed. He was not a man of mental grasp equal to
that of his father, the governor, but his humble Christian character gave him an influence
which was ever exerted for good. His pastorate closed June, 1842. His life July, 1843.
The after-pastorates belong to a period beyond that assigned to us.

The second congregation formed from Hopewell was Oxford, in 1837. This, as the seat
of Miami University, was a place of importance. Many Associate Reformed students,
particularly from the South, graduated there. In early times they were accustomed to walk
out frequently on Saturday, stay in the congregation till Monday, attend church on
Sabbath. I remember well among these such men as Wilson, McDonald, Young,
Roseman, McCaw, and others. Here at least one-McCreary, who afterwards went down
on the ill-fated Lucy Walker-made a profession of faith. In 1835 S. W. McCracken, then a
probationer, was elected professor. In 1836 he was ordained. He occasionally preached,
and in 1837 a congregation was organized, taking some members from the southern part
of the congregation. Thus in less than four years two additional congregations were
formed, still, however, leaving Hopewell one of the strongest congregations in the Church.

It is but right before closing to refer to another congregation and another pastor. We
mean Rev. Gavin McMillen’s, of the Covenanter Church. These, in proportion to their
numbers, had as much to do in molding the moral character of this community as Father
Porter and Hopewell.

The writer till in his twentieth year lived here, and during all that time he never spent a
night in any family where there was not regular family worship. Never heard the sound of
an axe, or a gun fired, or anyone whistle, loud laughter, or even singing, save in formal
worship, on the Sabbath. Sabbaths were Sabbaths indeed, and all nature seemed to be
pervaded by and enjoy a holy rest.

We have in this spoken of men simply because they were more prominent actors, not
because they were the more efficient agents. We read so often of Israel’s and Judah’s
kings, “And his mother’s name was,” then you have his moral character and success. In
order to succeed every man must first ask his mother’s, then his wife’s leave.

These women carded and hackled and spun and wove. These and such as these were
before the Spirit when he describes the faithful wife and mother (Prov. 31). They were
not accustomed to lead in a female prayer-meeting or missionary societies. But when they
were widowed or the husband temporarily absent they would gather the children around
the family altar, and such prayers as they offered up! Few of them then taught in Sabbath-
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?\\co we NeluhaQagghkin
Hopewell, Ohio.-A few years ago the A A it
Beech Woods Reformed Presbyterian congrega-
tion, then under the pastoral care of Rev. J. H.
Cooper, acceded to the United Presbyterian
Church under the name of Morning Sun congre-
gation. In October, 1874, Mr. Cooper demitted
his charge. During the summer of 1875 the
Morning Sun congregation made a proposition to Hopewell congregation, asking Hopewell to unite
‘with them and build a house of worship in the
village. Hopewell declined their proposition, and
cordially invited them to unite with Hopewell,
leaving the building site entirely out of the ques-
tion for the present; and when the united congre-
gation was ready to build, let the majority decide
where the building site should be. This proposi-
tion the Morning Sun congregation also declined.
A year ago last January, at the annual meeting
of Hopewell congregation, a motion was made to
ask the Morning Sun congregation to unite with
Hopewell, and build a house of worship in Morn-
ing Sun and call it Hopewell. The motion was
Jost. At an adjourned meeting the question was
reconsidered, and again lost. A motion was then
made that all who were in favor of uniting with
the Morning Sun congregation would meet in the
academy on next Saturday at two o'clock. The
chair ruled the motion out of order. After ad-
journment, the minority announced a meeting on
the following Saturday at two o'clock. However,
they didn’t meet till the following Monday at two
o'clock, in order that the announcement of the
meeting might be made in the church below
Morning Sun. The Morning Sun congregation
and a part of Hopewell congregation met in the
Morning Sun Academy according to the previous
announcement, and made arrangements to build
a house of worship in the village during the next
summer. Those intending to leave held their
membership in Hopewell congregation until their
new house was completed; then they asked for
and received their certificates, and connected
with the Morning Sun congregation.
At present Hopewell has nearly two hundred
attendants two thirds of whom are young people.
They have three prayer-meetings each month;
one in the school house west of the church,which
is a live prayer-meeting. The meeting is opened
by singing, prayer and reading a portion of the
word, and then the meeting is left for the people
to conduct, and the time is generally fully oc-
cupied by prayer, praise, reading portions of the
word and remarks. The Spirit of God is evidently
working in the hearts of these people. "Behold,



A AR BB 2B A A A 4B Ab dh J4b AR B AR A Jh 45 AR b J4b J4h 4 Jb 4 A AR A 4B A AR 4L S A AL AR S R B R A _J4h JI " AR 4

A HISTORY OF HOPEWELL CONGRE-
GATION
Preble Co., Ohio, March 20th, 1877.

In the years 1806 and 1807 several families,
members of the Associate Reformed Church, emi-
grated from the States of Kentucky and South
Carolina and settled in the County of Montgo-
mery, (now Preble ) In the summer of 1807 Rev.
Mr. Risk preached a sermon for them at the house
of Mr. Wm. McCreary. In 1808 they formed themselves into a society, and petitioned the
Presbytery of Kentucky for supplies. In Sep-
tember, 1808, Rev. Mr. Craig preached at the
house of David McDill, and organized Hopewell
congregation. They received supplies from the
Presbytery of Kentucky till the year 1814. Dur-
ing the intervening time their numbers greatly
increased by emigration from different States.
During the year 1814 Rev. Alexander Porter
came among them on a visit from Cedar Springs,
Abbeville, South Carolina, and preached two
Sabbaths and one week day. The congregation
made a call for him for two thirds of his time,
which was sustained and presented to him. by the
Presbytery of Kentucky, and accepted by him.
In July, 1815, he was installed pastor of Hope-
well congregation In the year 1818 the congre-
gation asked for and obtained Mr. Porter's whole
time. His pastorate continued about eighteen
years. He was a good man, full of the Spirit of
his Master, and his labors were greatly blessed by
the Head of the Church, In the year 1833 he
demitted his charge on account of declining
health; and on the 29th of March. 1839, he de.
parted this life in the assurance of a joyful en-
trance into the kingdom of his blessed Lord and
Master.

The congregation increased under Mr. Porter's

ministry until the house was too small for them,

and during the spring of 1834 Fair Haven con-

gregation was struck off, and is at present a

flourishing congregation under the care of the

venerable Dr. Scouller.

Their second pastor was Rev. Andrew Bower.

He was installed on the second Wednesday of

Dec.,1834. He labored among them till June, 1837,

and then demitted his charge. Their third pastor

was Rev. S W. McCracken, who was installed on

the last Tuesday of Dec., 1839. During his labors

among them the congregation gradually increased,

and although the congregation of Unity was

struck off during the winter of 1849 and 1850, and

a very considerable number of members emigra-

ted to the West. still the numerical strength, of

the congregation was quite as large at the time of
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HOPEWELL HOME COMING
August 30 - 1925

[:30 O'Clock: Praise Service
Conducted by
Rev. Frank Boyd D. D.
Prof. McMillan, Director of Music

2 OClock: Special Music
Sermon by
Rev. L. L. Gray

3 O'Clock: Reminiscent Remarks
Conducted by
Rev. Edgar McDill D. D.

Announcements

PASTORS OF
HOPEWELL CONGREGATION

Rev. Alexander Porter 1814 - 33
Rev. A. Bower 1834 - 37
Rev.S.W. McCracken 1840-59
Rev. Joseph McHatton 1861 -75
Rev. ]J. C. Campbell 1878 - 84
Rev. E. H. Huston 1884 -39

Rev. J. T. Hutchison 1890 - 95
Rev. S. H. McDill 1896 - 1904

Rev. W. E. Paxton 1904 - 15
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THE UNITED PRESBYTERIAN

[September 6, 1923.

"5'gregatlon itself, after more than one hundred

g“year,s of service, was disorganized some years
(uago During the vacatton time of Rev., E.,

gregatlon planned to worshxp on .the last two
"'“ ‘Sabbaths of August in the Hopewell church.
3"’I‘he~other nearby congregations decided that
they, too, would like to worship in this spot,
.ha‘llowed by so many sacred memories.-

i Thus it came about that on Sabbath, Au-
= gust 26, the mother church - welcomed four
‘* --hundred or more of her children, grandchil-*
dren and - greatgrandchildren, together with
= fr:ends They came for an all-day service,
as did their fathers, brmgmg their noonday

lu.nches which they ate in a quiet way, for it |-

was the Sabbath day They made the.walls
r"‘\of the old church Jing as they sang the dear
olc[#Psalms, .and they. had one Psalm "hqed
'&)‘out,"r by Rev. J' R Edwards, of Oxford
if’They made a happy choice in se]ectmg Dr.
i Frank 'Boyd, ‘of College Corner, to presxde
rI over .the meetmg

’.v Durmg the Sabbath schoo] hou.r N. H
:Thome, principal of the Israel schools, who
- 15. preparing ‘himself for the ministry at Ce-
darwl]e College, gave a good character sketch
o£ Barnabas, and Rev. J. M. Rife, of Fair-
~haven, told of the church to which Barnabas
5 belonged in a way which made the apostolic
uchu.rch very real. Rev. .J. .T Meloy, of
“Evanston, Ill, a soninlaw of Hopewell, de-
“livered the morning sermon from the text,
““So J'onah went to Nineveh, according fo the
"Word of the Lord” He felt- that he need
.not apolog;ze to such an audience for taking
‘his text from this much-ridiculed book, and
m fact it was very evident that Mr, Meloy
. could not apologize 1o any audience’ for so do-
dng, believing, as he does, in the inspiration
of the book. It was a helpful sermon, em-
iphasizing, as it d" the importance of the
surrender er- of the w:]l to God's will.

In “the aj'ternoon a historical sketch of
Hopewell prepared by’ the last pastor,-.Rev.
' W.-E. Paxton, was read by Rev. J. M. Rife,
‘Mr. Paxton being unable to be present. Thxs
dealt with the earlier years of the congrega-
tion, and it was suggested that Mr. Paxton be
vasked to brmg the sketch’ up to a'later date.
-Thls was’ a wise suggestion because of ithe’
1mportant service Hopewe]l has rendered not
-only to this: commumty, but by her. gifts ‘to
other congregations in the denomination, * -

: -It was mterestmg to note'that the first set-
tlers who came in_1806-7, 'sodn began to have
preachmg services,  In 1808 the church itself

‘was organized in the double log barn of Da- |-

vid* McDill, ‘a° society looking" towards this
:step haying been, formed the previous year at
the. home 'of ~William, McCreary. * The. first
pastor, Rev. Alexander Porter, came in 1814,
from Abbevxlle, ‘South Carolina. He was
promised .a’ salary of+ $333.331-3 for -two-
thirds. of his"time, and’ $166.662-3 from the,
eongregatnons ‘of ' Hamilton- and Concord
| When Hamilton: decided ta hawa tha' frlléima

‘dren of Hopewell were asked to rise.

H@peweﬂﬂ’s H@mee@mmg
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services of a pastor, Hopewell furnished ths
pastor, Rev.' David McDill, and contributed

largely to his. support for a number of years'

So it" was fitting, on this homecoming day,
that Hamilton congregatxon was represented
in the audience, as well as Reid Memonal
Richmond, who also has in her membership
some of Hopewell’s children.

Dr. McSurely, of Oxford, who has been in
the ministry = sixty-five years, first in the
United Presbyterian Church and now in the
Presbyterian, was present, and though his eye
is dim, his mind is clear and he speaks with
a clearness and force which many a younger
man might envy. How he did delight his au-
dience by drawing from memory's storehouse
many incidents of the long ago. In closing,
he spoke of the glorious heritage of the fath-
ers and urged his hearers to preserve it for
the generations yet to come.

The “Who's Who" feature of the program
was interesting. The’children and grandchil-
~ Then
Dr. Boyd calied for any children of the
Hopewell manse. One was present, Mrs.
Elsie. McDill. Buck, of Dayton.. Then he
spoke” of. the faithful seryice of Dr. J. Y.
Scoiiller, of Fairhaven, whose daughters,

"Misses Mary and Ella and a granddaughter,

were ‘present,"and of Rev. J. L. Aten, of Col-
lege Corper,' ‘whose daughters, Mrs. Mary
Blair and Miss Clara Aten, of Hamilton,
were' in the audience. The Simpsons and
the Orrs made a splendid showing when they
arose, as the grandchildren of Hopewell's
first pastor, Rev. Alexander Porter.” Rev. R.
J. Kyle, of Media," Ill a ‘former pastor of
Fairhaven, was also present

Rev. J. R, Edwards, of Oxford, was wisc
in the choice of a text for the closing mes-
sage, “Hold that fast which thou hast, that
no man take thy crown.” Emotions had been
stirred, as the faithful service of the fathers
had been recalled. In his address Mr. Ed-
wards showed how these could be translated

.nto something worthwhile. Hold fast to that

simple faith in the providence of God which

| enabled the fathers to make the long journey

here from the South and with selfdenying ef-
fort to establish the home, school and church;
hold+fast to that sincerity which led them to
worship in the meetinghouse cach Sabbath,
no matter how far distant were their homes
or* how inclement the weather; hold fast to
the family altars which they erected; hold
fast to the principles which made such char-
acters as theirs, namely the- belief in the
sovereignty of God, in repentance and {faith
towards Christ as the means of salvation, in
the sacredness of the ‘whole Bible and of the
Sabbath and in the'belief that forms of wor-
ship not set forth in the Bible are forbidden.
Thus closed a day of fellowship and wor-
ship which had so appealed tothe people that

they voted to hold a similar service annually *

‘ Mormng Sun,’ O}no

—-House-Agent: “Moreover, sir, this house
is considered to, have the most perfect loggia
in the county.” Profiteer: “Well, if we take
the place, '¢’ll ’ave to 'go. We've done with

Aadoore Pl

THE ROCKEFELLER FOUNDATION

. /

The latest annual report of the Rockefeller
Foundation has an impressive record of the
aid which has been given medical science. It
is so unusual it deserves recital here. Dur-
ring the year 1922 the Rockefeller Founda-
tion endowed chairs of medicine and of sur-
gery in Hongkong University; pledged
$1,125,000 toward new buildings' for the Col-
lege of Medicine of the State University of
Iowa; contributed to the current maintenance
of two medical schools in Canada; completed
the buildings, strengthened the faculty, and
wholly financed the Peking Union Medical
College; agreed to appropriate $300,000 to-
ward laboratories and premedical teaching in
two Chinese institutions and in one mission-
ary university in Peking; helped 19 hospitals
in China to increase their efficiency in the
care of patients and in the further training
of doctors and nurses; promised to cooperate
in the rebuilding and reorganization of the
medical school of Sao Paulo, Brazil, and. of
the medical school of Sijam in Bangkok ; made
a survey of medical schools in Austria,
Czechoslovakia, Germany, Hungary, Poland,
and Switzerland, and studies of English and
Scotch methods of clinical teaching; .sent
eminent medical men as, visiting professors
or consulting officers to China, the Philippines,
Brazil, and Salvador; arranged for a com-
mission of medical scientists from Strasbourg
to visit the United States and England; gave
emergency aid in the form of medical litera-
ture, laboratory supplies and apparatus, fel-
lowships and stipends to promising investiga-
tors and teachers in the Pasteur Institute of
Paris and in, many other European centers;
pledged two million dollars toward the site,
building, and equipment of a school of hy-
giene in London ; cooperated with state boards
of health, in maintaining institutes and instruc-
tion for health workers; shared in malaria
control in 34 county-wide and 32 town dem-
onstrations in ten southern states 'and con-
tinued field studies and surveys in the United
States, Porto Rico, Nicaragua, Brazil, Pales-
tine, Australia, and the Philippines; cooper-
ated with the Mexican and other governments
insteadily restricting the prevalence of yellow
fever; resurveyed centers of hookworm in-
fection in four southern states, and carried on
control work in 21 foreign governmental
areas; took part in promoting full-time
health service in 163 counties in 18 states of
the United States, and in several counties in
Brazil; agreed to support for five years the
disease-reporting service and for three years

 the international exchange of health personnel

program of the health section of the League
of Nations; provided fellowships in public
health, medicine, nursing, chemistry, and
physics to 237 advanced students from 23
countries; by consultation and providing of
personnel aided public health administration
in the United States, Australia, Brazil, Cana-
da," Central America, Czechoslovakia, France,
the Philippines; contributed to mental hygiene
projects, demonstrations in dispensary admin-
istration, " hospital information service, sur-'
veys of nursing education and hospital man-
agement, the organization of tuberculosis
work in France, the training of French health

"visitors, and other undertakings in the fields

af mechlia hanlitlh and candical adicnadinea
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The South Carolina Presbyterian Migrationm

1800--- 1833

by
¥rs, Ila Lemon, Morning Sun
Ehio,

A neper prepared for the
Mondey Clubof Oxford,
Ohio.
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They became #n Associate Reformed Church end were hanpy with
him es the pestor; but their Presbyterisn neighbors never
missed ® ch-nce to eccuse them. At last the sre=t chence camp
when i'r. Cler™ refused to tale his oeth of Adjurstion, beceuse
it recnenized the "ine ss the Herd of the church, Ye wes
srrested *né vut in joil et Koneghen to ewelt triael, Thilein
je1l re virote corfortine snd insvirine letters to his conere-
o=tinn; rrerched to =2s meny as could meet with him, bspntizinzg
thirteen children snd merryinsz one couvle., ‘'her the time came
for his triel it wes found there wes no just cesuse 2se2insthim,
anjd he wrs relecsed,

In 1763, he received a cell from ilbany, Kew york, end
werriedwith nersecution, he decided to accent it. Kis congere-
#ntion wrs distressed a2t the thousht of senarsation from him
end concluded to 7o with him to the new world. ith three
nundred of his flock he set sail for Lew York, After mrriving
in ew Yorl: City, .r Clarlk end 15C members , with A ruline
elders went to saler ..,Y,; transplentine a congrecetion from
Irel-nd to Semlem. There were some in this emierestion who h=ad
frierds »nd relntives in South Cerolinna, and insteed of eoine
tn S~lem, tler went south to Abbeville Distriet, Somth Cerolinn,
forTine the ere=ter nert of the Conerecntion of Ceder Srrinecs,
‘fter eishteen ye~rs ~s prstor of Selem, ir Cler™  visited his
014 frierds ~nd former nerishoners 5F Abbeville, =nd in 1797,
bec~we nestor of Ceder Srrinss =nd J.on« Cene of thrt District.

I¥r, Cler», besides hroldin« the Theologicel derTee
h~d one in medicine from fleseow University. Fe wes = Versetile
wrererer, vever feiline t9 nreech the Gosnel where ever he
wes. Tnis story is told of him; one S=bbrth dr~y when in »
gstr-onee chrmirity where the neonle were o=thered together Inr

forontien. .n ~nother oscc=sion, while vreeschin= two dogs hed
= “irnt bererti. the mlnit. After they were separ-ted =nd teken out
~e clen=e¢ is discource =nd too™ the dogs for his text, tellins
wh=t the doos were tryinr to sey to the consrecntion.

e eroun =2t Ceder Snrinzs wrs the most influenci-l
nf =11 the ..ssoci=te “resbyterian Churches in South Carolin-=,
it of it ceme many eminent educstors =~nd nreechers. In itjwere men of
stronr i..tellects =nd deer relisious convictions. ‘e Ao not
‘*mow who of tliese members crme from Ballybey with ir, Cler}. but
there m:st hnve many of the Abbeville peonle who were in his
farmer conrreeation.in Irel-nd.
“hese nermec °re found in the iisrstion end in Abbeville Dis-
t~ict:
At-ins, Be~rd, Bleck, Crawford, Tnelish, Foster, Lesslie,
“‘eCew, “orter, Pressley, Stuert, eed, Irwin, Lowry, Patton,
tn~ers, Turner, ''ilson, Ierris, ’inerton, - some of these
ri1et h~ve come with him,
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mhese freedom-lovine citizens were steunch defendersof

liberty =nd indevendence durins the Ver of the Revolution.
iieny of their neichbors were Tories, which brought the weor
to their dsors, resultine in loss of proverty by theft and
fire.snd the derth of fathers and sons while defendine theseme,
seme. After the close of the Revoluténnary Ver and the colonies
hzd e=ined their indenendence, frame and brick houses beegrn
to enne~r instend of the log houseqand prosperity were in
evidence every where.

"ith nrosnerity ceme an increase of Slavery. Some be-
leived slavery was wronz, others that it wes scrinturcl; Hut
they =11 eoreed that the effects on their sons snd druchters
wrs not ~ood. Those ownins sleves be ceme less industrioms,
surercilinous end mor< plessure- lovine, To the credit ofthose
this oroin of meonle who held slaves, it must be told thet
ther c~red for them =nd instructed them in the Bitle =nd the
“av nf Selv~tion. A-mrrt  of their churches were set rside
far the occunency of the blaeX neople vhen they attended church
services with their mesters.

In 12nC, the Reformed Presbyterien Syméd in its meetine
r1led sleverv nut of their denominetion. There were none orf
the sothern churches oresent =t this meeting, so Semuel B.
“"ylie ~nd Jemes Tennedrs were delea~ted to visit the Southern
chuirches »nd tell them of the ruline, - They went from »iits-
bur~n to weysville, :'y. by boet from lirysville by horsebec
to the sncieties in Yentue*y snd Tennessee. Thence t»s South
Cerolinewhere theveeve their messsece. Before the cormunion
service on the followin~ 32bbath, these Covenanters: h?d freed
~11 their slsves, ~ivinz up thousands of dollasrs of profit.
Trer oné others of the presbyteri=n f=ith were =nxious to find
s2~e mnlnrce where ther could live without slevery. ‘hen the
Tortawest Territory wes orzanized and slesvery forbidden inthe
territory, they looked to this district ms snother 1l~nd of
freedomr.

:fter the Tresty of Greeanville, in 1795, they turned
their eves in the direction of the new territory now onened for
settlerent. The first micration wes thet of tem femilies of
~reshrrterisn feith from Laurens County, South Ceroline., They
he~cn meins nrensr~tiomns to come in 1798, to the Y'eyme ur-
chese olome the "hitew~terriver(in Indisn- Territory). in 1°Cl,
theyw srrived bt beccuse the lands were not yet surveyed, they
helted ne~r where the site of Ferrison , dJhio, now is, Lnile
weitin~, thevexnlored the recsions of ”hi&eweter srnd decided
on the 12nA elone the Frst Far-, erch fomily selectine their
lend; tocether the men bhuilt the erbins #2nd in 1904, end when
thexr received their deeds they moved in. They entered thelenad
betxeen Broorville ~nd Ferirfield in ¥ronlin Count:mip rlrost
to Bx avnsviTle in “nion County. ‘nile exnlorin~ the le=nd, they
fo‘loweo 3N ;”dl n tr~il which ren from the Gre-t Jiﬂml (River)

ne“* uxel*izgtﬂv*soU“Eyec%hlﬁewﬂgﬁér wBuer tkezedrovedaket?

of
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indrew lictuiston's femily ~nd his fether-in-lew, Devid, ‘
c=me rs f-r =s @erret Bounty, Ky. near "Er-ncester in Decerber, 18054,
after hevin- been seven weeks on the rosd., Here they stopved
until winter was over., Devid wrote from there to his son,hush,
not to trr to mele the journey without the compeny of another
wzzon, £8 in meny plecces it was necesgsary to double the tesrms. Fow
difficult the journey wns may be learned from the fect thst
they had traveled 374 miles in severn weeks, or 4° d-ys, estrey
rnever trnveled on the Sabbreth.d=y. The route taken, he =ives
es follows:-
"T'rom home to Foot's, 28 miles: to Pinckmney,1? miles;
to Eser-Yetes, 156 miles; to KNicholessen,22 miles; to 6elind~ ) j}uﬂﬁz
Piver, *C miles; to byncomb, 4C miles; to “arm Sprinas, 3° '%A
miles; to 6uamberland iountein, 90 miles; to Cr=d Orchrrd,
a3 miles; to Lencaster, 12 miles.in o1 374 miles. The first
nleces =re in South Caroline west end north, es elso is the
Sslind= River, which neme meesns,"the headwetersof the river
neer -ere they crossed the Blue Ridee (i'ts) into Worth Cerolina,
Buncomb is nrobebly in ehout where Ashville, is in Buncomb
Comntr, vhere thevfnllowed the ¥rench Bro~d River throach the
manteins ints Tennessee. I'srm Snrines is on the French Bro=d
in Tornessee; from heve tg/Cumberlnnd Younteins, we do not
he :
+now ., It mey heve dbeen throush the mount=ins somewhere neer
Zsute °% 7. The treil from Cumberl-nd Gep throuach Cre=b Orchsard
t5 Lernsrter wes = much tr-veled route from Vireinis, Drvid's
son uch, c~me throush in the s»rin~ of 1807, ''ith him c~me
tne .eDills ~»nd E21iotts, Boynes rnd Pettersons snd others.

Al

In 1209, when Zonewell Associste Reformed Church wes
orzenized, there were 15 families, the ecreater number of whom
viere from South Carolin-; - John Patterson, Devid ile"uiston, ‘ndrew I
e 1iston, Tbenezer Tlliott, {John Boyse! ¥rom this oz , mizr=tion
nf forilies increnased:ithich was indiceted by the size of the
charer built., TEn 1808, a loes house, 18 feet squmre, served
them =s = meetin~ house, DRy 1811, they nut un = hewed loz
bouse, %0 feet square, which wes scarcely finished when it
vog found to be too small, In 1814, rn rddition of *C feet
wes wrde, bat soon this was crowded. In 1827, s bric™ house, 45 feet
br 70, wes built which wes filled every Zebbath for menyy reers.
Twis buildin~ is still standine , = memorisl to the esrly Associrte-
Tefqrred nioneers of Israel Township, Preble County.

T e first nestoar of this church w-=s Rev. Alexender
Sawter A Ced~» Snrines, ‘bbeville, District, S.C. With hir
c-me o ofe~t nither of the members of his former c%nqrezzgéon%
‘wane the f-milies were; Boyce, Rerrd, ‘e Pressley. .- rerton
;Zzles, :oster, .ortpr,’2n¢ ish, Stunft, g?*c-, GRaf¥ana, ’
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¥o wor™ wes done but that of actual necessity; Saturdey wes

a. premeretion for the 8abbath; every extra cookxineg wrs done
for the nevt dey; shoes ~ererded or shined; clothes were 1leid
»1t in rerdiness, men sheved ~hd b=ths trlren; the women even
s~ve on exirs fine combine to their hRhRir on Seturdny nicht,
A Sahheihr mornine the femily on horseback or in wegons vended
treir v~v t> the house of worshin, #*%»% en All-seéine Iye

wes wrtehine over rerresentetives of more then two hundred
f-rilies movin~ towerd two churches-- Fonewedl r~nd Teech ‘‘oods.

‘tre= mier~tions of South Cerolinisns -~wént™td P*incefod.Ind
Southern Illinois, Bloominston, Ind.=-nddGfeemmeCounty, vhio.
L few ferilies from South Carolins loceted on Gerrison Cree™,
Te-rgville County, Irnd., =bout the seme time =s the esrly mi-
erctisn t5 Preble County i'e dn not Ymow their n=mes but ther
vere visited ty :Hev. John ¥Yell Pnd became nrrt of the Beech
Wioods Church.
The icier~tion to i.onroe County, Ind. did not becin
es eerly =s those to Princton snd Southern Ind., s this portion o
of the State was not opened to settlement as soon =s the
others mentioned. The foundin~ of Bloominaton University
nrob=bly drew their attention in that direction. Thre first
Zeformed Presbyteriang to come were iloores, Feris, Blairs,-nd
a ghurch was or~enized in 1821, Smiths Pnd Voodburns ceme next,
™his church is still in & flourishine condition. Amone the
neres o7 members ere:- VWilson, YWeir, lloffet, Strone, Henry,
e3ew, leCallum, 1Yiller end meny others. The pastor, Tev..m,
Turne», was born in S, Cerolin= cnd educ~ted in Xieri University, ~
( 7%ford,0'as were many South Carolina youths 1in the errly
histor—~ of the University., ¥He wes one of the youns men who
stiied Theonlo=y under Robert Hemilton 3ishop, 'm, Folmes
" e~ffev, John ithersmoon Scott snd Armstrong of the University.
t-eere Cymmty, "hio., The eerly R.?., churches »nd The Associcte
Tefqrmed L[hircnes were corposed mastly of members from Fentuey,
Tiwminie end ‘ennsrlveni~., The Reformed ’resbyterien church of
nssie's Cree™, "nich »Fterw-rd moved to Cedsrvi*™e, w-s with
tne ercention of seven yeers, ministered to by = fourth ofth
ti=e af tne Beech '00ds n-stors who were from South Carsline, This br
bou~nt some families from South Csrolin= to Greene County; but
nat vintil 1222, when Rev, Huch ilelillen wes ceplled from the
brie™ erureh in Crester Distriet S.C., was there a ler~e mi-restion.
mnen ne snd 1is con-regertion c=me north-- the srester pert
with the nestor to Greene Countv., This wes the last mieretion
»f Telformed _‘resbyterisns to the Ilorthwest T#&: FH—m—ixx .
So the lmnd of nromise, South Carolins, because of the evils

of 3l~very wrs transrlented to the Slrve-free XNorth T'est Ter-
ritory.
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The Scotch-Irish seem to have been esnecirlly fitted
for frontier life, VWhen the first South Carsdlinisns resched
Arericen soil in Few England, they were permitted to settip
on the frontier between the Indiens ~nd *he Enelish., As they
miereted to other varts , they huilt one frontier sfter snother,

Strone snd coureceous, they were not only the builders
°f the frontier, but builders of the foundnation of the
Free ‘merica, s we Ynow it todsy,

irs, Ile Zamsey Lemon
dornineg Sun,
Noverber, 1839 Preble County,
Ohio
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"HISTORIC HOPEWELL" - February 1992

INTRODUCTION -
Early in the year 1806 the families of William McCreary and Robert Douglass
moved from the Fairfield District in South Carolina, intending to settle in Ohio.
They passed through Lexington on to Fort Hamilton, @Which is in Hamilton, Ohio).
They learred that the state of Ohio was homesteading land in "Beech Woods,"
which included what is now Hueston Woods and land north. In the fall of the same
year the families of Andrew McQuiston, D%%d McDill, and Eben Elliot joined the
McCreary and Douglass families in "Beech Woods.”

In 1808 there were 15 families living in log cabins in the area around the
church site, to be known as Hopewell.

These 15 families left South Carolina because they were against slavery.
they wanted their church in South Carolina to oppose the holding of slaves as
chattels. ’When their church refused, thev withdrew their membership and headéd
north to Ohio.

The men and women who made the trip north were strong physically. They had
to be to withstand the toils and exposures connected with the trip from South
Carolina to Southern Ohio, with nothing but a dense forest, the home of wild

beasts, and no roads to travel. Moral bravery and physical and mental strength

were the driving forces that made them push forward each day. A few of them died
enroute.

Thev built log cabins, planted seeds for food, and hunted wild game to
survive. Their first church services were held in their homes. Five Presbyterian
elders who had been ordained in South Carolina took charge of the services.
(McDill, McQuiston, Elliot, Douglass, and McCreary) -- These families produced

offspring who in turn begat progeny, some living in our midst today.
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Porter was a strong leader in the community. He interviewed school' teacher
applicants, recommended them for prefessorships in the Pittsburgh Theological
Seminary, if he believed they were qualified.

Remember that the newcomers to our Hopewell area left South Carolina
primarily because they were opposed to slavery. Reverend Porter and his elders
went to Chillicothe to ask the Presbytery to renounce officially slavery in the
area. The Presbytery officers said they couldn't understand how the "former South
Carolina residents could be so adamantly against slavery, when all of them were
former slave owners." ‘'Reverend Porter rose to the occasion and delivered one
of his finest sermons which quieted the opposition." He said 150 families came
North to leave the area where slavery existed. It is interesting to note while
very few northerners favored slavery, there dhot sufficient Bible Authority
for an absolute rule on the subject. The subject had not been resolved by 1865;’
when the Civil War finally ended the controversy.

The church membership grew as many families came to live in the area. In
1825 the Séssion and Reverend Porter launched a drive for funds to build a new
brick church. One hundred sixteen heads of families each pledged $1,003.00 to
be paid over a period of two years. The men in the church did most of the work.
Bricks were molded and burned in a kiln in the church yard. Each family was
responsible for paving under his pew and each man built his own pew. The pews
had sides and resembled a large box. The children couldn't see over the sides,
but they were expected to sleep during the one to two hour services. A family
owned its pew. If the family moved, the pew was sold. There was always a waiting
list.

Reverend Porter was a dominant figure not only among his parishioners, but
in the community. He and his session served as judge and jury when disputes

arose. In each family the man was head of the unit and was held accountable

for the actions of his wife and children.
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make changes in procedures but Reverend Bower was continually trying to ﬁake his
congregation adjust to changes. It was said that when money was to be raised,
he used a kind of "Methodist Revival" method. When the collection was about to
be taken on Sunday morning, Reverend Bower would toss a Silver dollar over the
front of the pulpit. It hit the wooden floor with a loud ring. This was
intended to inspire others to match his contribution.

Reverend Bower was a tee~totaler. He chided those who drank and his
number of suppbrters gradually declined. He was advised by the presbytery to
resign which he did after serving as pastor three years.

The Reverend S. W. McCracken became pastor in 1839 and served in acceptable
fashion for a period of twenty years. He died in 1859.

During the first fifty years of Hopewell's existence, many changes occurred.
Some families moved in, then decided to move farther West into Illinois or north
in Ohio. But by 1834 the Hopewell Church could not accommodate the more than
400 families who were members. Space was a problem, and one minister could not
serve his parishioners in the manner that Reverend Porter had established.

In 1834, the first satellite church in Fairhaven was organized. Families
residing in the North Eastern part of the Hopewell area had their membership
transferred to Fairhaven by the Hopewell session.

A second satellite congregation was formed in Oxford in 1837, on the site
of the present Seminary building on Church Street. Many Associate Reformed
students from Miami University attended the services on weekends. Many of them
became ordained ministers. They did their student training in the Oxford church.

Even though two congregations of at least 40 families each left the Hopewell
church in a period of three years, Hopewell continued to grow and was the strongest
of the three congregations. In 1849, families living close to College Corner
built a church in the village. 1In 1876, a new church was built in Morning Sun.

At least 100 members transferred from Hopewell to the Morning Sun congregation.
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There is no payroll. Collections have been used to pay the light bills and
general cleaning of the interior of the church. Insurance rates are high. It
is in an isolated area.

One winter about 15 years ago, thieves entered and took a chandelier
hanging over the pulpit, a pump organ, and six pews. No trace was found of them.

The guest registers include the names of people from all over the United
States, Canada, France, India, Sweden, England, and Africa. Most of those from
foreign countries were students at Miami University.

A check of available records of the church history, indicates that the g

232 %
families named Bell, Boyce, Brown, Cald ellY Elljot, Gilmore, Stubbs, McCreary

g oot mpth e, Thoomerra 2Bl ik,
McQuiston, Patterson, Paxton Pinkerto ey Simpson, Stea%fézﬁfttley and
etz cizs S LM 7 o 2l M W
Wright all played prominent roles in the establlshlng of Historic Hopewell and
Az ng/ Corszong st Xu/A’/// Nz Erzes 2,
e

-~
surroundin churches. ..
as served as secretary for the

AFR -
Mrs. Hazel Tuttley (husband was Dwight)

church. She has contacted lay speakers, written articles for the newspaper and
paid the bills. She is past 80 years of age.

Today -- The church has not been decorated or painted since before 1915.
The carpeting is worn out, the old piano's 88 keys don't all produce notes, but
when 30 - 100 meet each Sunday, their religious batteries are recharged.

I am convinced that a $100,000 organ and a beautiful sanctuary are not really
necessary for a meaningful worship service.

Spirited singing of the old familiar hymns, reading of the scripture, a
sincere talk by a lay speaker and the fellowship created when strangers meet -~
all of these make it an inspirational experience.

During the past 20 years, there have been a number of weddings in the

church (descendants of the pioneer families) and burials in the cemetery.

wh
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HISTORIC HOPEWELL, Inc.

A brochure tells the story of the building of this Hopewell Church in
1825 by Christians who “put first things first.” They built it straight and
strong with beauty in its simplicity.

The early Ohio Settlers worshipped here for 90 years. After its clos-
ing in 1915, an annual Homecoming was held on the last Sunday in August.
This was discontinued in 1958. The fate of the old building was uncertain
until 1964 when a group of interested people wilh the help of Rev. Dunald
Grady of the Fairhaven U. P. Church, Rev. John Britcher of Lthe Morning
Sun U. P. Church, Rev. Leslie Van Inwegen of the Oxford Seminary Church,
Rev. Harvey Luce of the General Presbyterian Church in Dayton and legal
assistance from Attorney Ernest Kruse of Dayton, formed an interdenom-
inational organization.

William Simpson suggested the name ‘“Historic Hopewell” and it was
incorporated. It was their vision and belief that the building could again
shelter and inspire worshipping people. The plan was not {o take members
from their own churches, but fo provide a place of worship. where vaca-
tioners in llueston Woods Slale Park could come, dressed casuazlly during
the summer months.

The first service was held May 31, 1964, at 8:45 A.M. with Rev.
John Britcher speaking to 12 people in the east church yard.

That afternoon at 3:00, a meeting was held to incorporate the inter-
denominational, non-profit organization., Elected officers were as follows:

President Mrs. Agnes Stubbs
Vice President Mr. William Simpson
Recording Secretary Mrs. Jean West
Corresponding Sceretary & Treasurer Mrs. Glenna Simpson

Trustees: Mr. and Mrs. Paul Earhart
Mr. and Mrs. Dwight Tuttley—Member before 1915 closing
Mr. and Mrs. Winburn Stewart
Mr. and Mrs. John McCreary
Mr. Paul Hays — Descendant of Rev. Porter
Mrs. Martha Etnyre — Descendant of Rev. Porler

Mrs. Glenn Wright was appointed Statutory Agent but withdrew due
to ill health and Mrs. Marion Crowell took her place.

Letters were sent out to inform friends and the services were publicized.

The meetings were held outside for two summers. Chairs, song buoks,
and the Boy Scout’s lectern from the Morning Sun U. P. Church was car-
ried “out and in” by willing hands. Rev. Van Inwegen brought a small
portable organ from the Oxford Seminary Church which was used in the
outdoor services.

The blessings of beautiful weather, singing of the birds, buzzing of
the bees and the fluttering butterflies were enjoyed by those attending in
camping clothes at this quiet, pcaceful spot.

The services were informal but inspiring and reverent. Children sat
quietly on chairs or on blankets. The congregation sang joyously and some-
times a camper played the organ or led the singing. One Sunday A.M.,,
when there was no speaker, a minister who was camping volunteered and
a Boy Scout played the organ.

Offerings were generous, the spcakers volunteered their scrvice as
did all workers. Gifts were sent in by friends, making it possible to repair
and clean the church. Everyone who looks inside is inspired with its sim-
plicity, strength and beauty
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History from 1970 to 2005

Trustees kept their respective positions till 1968. By that time the group of trustees were
seeing their board group dwindling due to age and lack of interest and death. The
Tuttley’s[Dwight and Hazel] and the Stubbs[Agnes and Ted]stepped up to maintain the
orginal plan of keeping Hopewell as a beacon of light in the community. But age was
catching up to these caretakers quickly. Early in 1980°s the Sheards[ Bill and June] were
contacted by the Tuttleys for addition help with the services. As health issues finally
caused Hazel Tuttly to realized she must pass the torch to the Sheards who would carry it
for twenty one years into the 21st century. Hazel was to go to her reward in December of
1996. In the coming years of 1998 and 1999 it was determined that the floor should be
repaired and that turned into replacing the entire floor by many volunteers, many from
Fairhaven Comunity Church [a daughter congreation]leadership was by Virgil Otto of the
Oxford area and College Corner Presbyterian , Oxford daughter churches also and others
were also represented as it turned into a larger renovation as the walls were repaired of
cracks and new paint, wiring, ceiling drywalled and a small furnace installed in the storage
area of the building for the church Christmas Eve services. By the 2000 and 2001 years it
was decided to offer memberships in the organization to anyone interested and to once
again have Hopewell governed by a committee board. It is great desire that we can follow
our mission statement into the future; “To Preserve Our Heritage & Perpetuate Its Care
For Future Generations& To Promote The Organization By Inviting Others To Join With

Us To Support This Worthy Goal.”Sincerely, Robert Simpson
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